WOOH

FILED
SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NOV 13 1998 !

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Shief Deputy Clerk

JORGE CASTRO,

v.

Petitioner,

recreationer,

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CASE NO. 93,335

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO.
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JORGE CASTRO,

Petitioner, :

v.:

CASE NO. 93,335

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

I STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information, the state charged petitioner, Jorge Castro, who is 77 years old, under section 322.34(1)(c), Florida Statutes, with the third-degree felony of driving while license is suspended or revoked (DWLSR) by a person with two previous convictions of the same offense, as well as grand theft auto and burglary of a conveyance (R 8-9,S 17).

Castro pleaded guilty to the DWLSR charge only, reserving his right to appeal enhancement to a felony, on the ground there were no valid qualifiers because he was not represented by counsel in the priors (Plea 3-4,5). The other charges were nol-prossed (Plea 4).

The following took place during entry of the plea:

MR. WILLIAMS [defense counsel]: Just for

¹In this brief, the record on appeal will be referred to as "R," the plea transcript as "Plea," and the supplemental record as "S," followed by the page number.

clarification, we're not disputing that he's got a prior driving while license suspended on his record. We are disputing there are no valid qualifiers for the enhancement because they were neither represented by counsel and validated in securing a plea.

These were all taken in south Florida. And they, unlike local county judges, herd through like cattle.

THE COURT: So there will be documents presented to the Court by the state at the time of sentencing, and they will either reflect that they are valid convictions or not.

MR. WILLIAMS: That's my understanding.

MR. FINA [prosecutor]: And the state would further nol-pros the remaining two counts of the information as part of this plea.

(Plea 3-4). Later, the prosecutor said:

County, I ask that he contact his attorney maybe a week before sentencing to ensure that we have got all the documents from Dade County. Usually it takes at least two months to get anything from them. And if we don't have it, maybe he can avoid a trip back up here for sentencing.

(Plea 9).

Castro failed to appear for sentencing, and a capias was issued (R 46-47). After his arrest, Castro wrote to the judge explaining that his aunt had died, which required him to go to Lima, Peru for two months, and he could not remember if he received a notice of the court date before he left (R 50).

At sentencing, defense counsel explained:

The issue is whether or not there is [sic] sufficient qualifying prior convictions for driving while suspended based upon his

assertion that any prior he had did not have representation by a lawyer or a valid waiver that could be utilized for enhancement for felony purposes.

(S 5). A different prosecutor - Daniel Dill - appeared for the state. Dill said Castro had been convicted previously of felony DWLSR in Broward County in October, 1996 (S 6). Defense counsel argued that the mere fact of such a conviction did not prove that the issue of uncounseled priors was raised in the Broward case, or that the conviction there was valid. Further, the defense argued that the due process protections which attach to a conviction of felony petit theft would also apply in this context (S 7-8).

The prosecutor said a certified copy of Castro's driving record was in the file (S 9). Defense counsel argued the driving record was not sufficient to answer the questions of whether Castro had been represented by, or validly waived, counsel on the prior convictions (S 9). The court found the certified copy of the driving record to be sufficient proof that Castro had the requisite priors (S 10).

Castro also disputed several entries on the PSI as not his convictions (S 12). The record does not contain a sentencing guidelines scoresheet, but defense counsel asserted he scored nonstate prison (S 13). Although the state offered no proof that the disputed entries were correct, the trial court was "inclined to leave the scoresheet as is," because either way resulted in scoring as nonstate prison (S 13).

December 10, 1996, Castro was placed on probation for 1

year, with a condition that he serve 364 days in jail, plus pay court costs and a public defender lien (R 51-55). Credit for time served was orally pronounced as 172 days, including 50 days Castro was held in south Florida on the warrant (S 14). The written order, however, granted only 105 days (R 56).

On appeal, petitioner argued inter alia 1) the state had failed in its obligation under the plea agreement to **prove** he had either been represented by counsel or waived counsel on his prior convictions, and 2) section 322.34(1)(c) is unconstitutional. The district court made no comment on the first issue, but rather, affirmed per curiam with a cite to <u>State v. Gloster</u>, 703 So.2d 1174 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), which is pending review in this court, no. 92,235 (Fla. 1998).

In <u>Gloster</u>, the trial court reversed the conviction finding the statute to be unconstitutional. On appeal, however, the First District reversed, finding a trial judge has no opportunity to treat a violation of section 322.34(1)(c) as a misdemeanor, and therefore, the potential for violation of the constitutionally mandated separation of powers does not arise. This court has accepted discretionary review under Article V, section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution, of <u>Gloster</u>, this case, and other similarly situated cases.

II SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I: Section 322.34(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1995), is an inartfully drafted provision which, unlike comparable statutes enhancing a third or subsequent misdemeanor of DUI or petit theft into a felony, hinges the enhancement of a third or subsequent offense of driving while license suspended upon "conviction." In the absence of any clear legislative directive to the contrary, a withhold of adjudication following a no contest plea is not a conviction in this context. Therefore, the authority of the trial judge to impose or withhold adjudication gives the judiciary the power to prescribe punishments reserved by the Florida Constitution to the legislature.

District courts holding to the contrary are in error.

Contrary to the conclusion in State v. Gloster, supra, the option to treat the offense as a misdemeanor is available to the trial judge upon a withhold of adjudication. The judge may impose a sanction of a year or less in duration. Moreover, the strained statutory exegesis in Raulerson v. State, 699 So.2d 339 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), review granted, 709 So.2d 537 (Fla. March 5, 1998), and State v. Keirn, 23 Fla.L. Weekly D1144 (Fla. 4th DCA May 6, 1998), review granted, 718 So.2d 168 (Fla. July 22, 1998), notwithstanding, this statute is not excepted from the Florida rule that a plea of nolo contendere followed by withhold of adjudication of guilt is not a conviction. The Raulerson court has misread precedent in this area, and the construction urged in the concurring opinion smacks of judicial

legislation. The <u>Keirn</u> court erroneously incorporated section 322.34(1)(c) into a separate statute dealing with noncriminal traffic infractions to arrive at a flawed conclusion that adjudication is not necessary for felony enhancement.

Consequently, this court should rule section 322.34(1)(c) an invalid delegation of legislative power, in violation of Article III, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution.

Issue II: The state failed to fulfill its part of the plea bargain, in which it agreed to **prove** the prior convictions were counseled. The state having failed to prove the requisite prior convictions were valid, the trial court could not lawfully enhance the conviction to a felony, thus the conviction must be reduced to a misdemeanor.

Issue III: Although moot here, undersigned requests that this court address the issue of credit for time served for the guidance of the courts. Credit for time served was orally pronounced as 172 days, but the written order granted only 105 days. Where there is a discrepancy between the oral and written sentences, the oral pronouncement controls, and the written order should be corrected to conform to the oral. Petitioner contends that the Appeal Reform Act of 1996 did not abrogate this requirement of consistency as to any term of the sentence. More specifically, this court has held in Mancino v. State, infra, that a sentence is illegal to the extent credit for time served is not granted.

III ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

SECTION 322.34(1)(C), FLORIDA STATUTES (1995), VIOLATES THE CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENT OF SEPARATION OF POWERS BECAUSE IT ALLOWS TRIAL JUDGES TO PRESCRIBE THE SEVERITY OF THE OFFENSE AND PERMISSIBLE PUNISHMENT VIA EXERCISE OF DISCRETION TO IMPOSE OR WITHHOLD ADJUDICATION OF GUILT.

The issue in this case is whether section 322.34(1)(c), Florida Statutes, violates the constitutional requirement of separation of the powers of the judiciary and legislature, on grounds that it gives trial judges the authority to prescribe crimes and authorized punishments. This case follows the First District's opinion in <u>State v. Gloster</u>, 703 So.2d 1174 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997).

As set out in the district court opinion in <u>Gloster</u>, the statute provides that a third or subsequent offense of driving while license suspended or revoked (DWLSR) is to be punished "upon conviction" as a third-degree felony, an enhancement from misdemeanor treatment for previous offenses. In accord with the decision in <u>State v. Santiago</u>, 4 Fla.L. Weekly Supp. 220 (17th Cir. Aug. 2, 1996), Gloster argued that a conviction under the statute correlates to adjudication of guilt. The authority of the trial judge to withhold or impose adjudication of guilt, pursuant to section 948.01(2), Florida Statutes, unconstitutionally carries with it the legislative prerogative to prescribe authorized punishments.

The district court rejected this argument, reasoning that,

because a withhold of adjudication must be accompanied by probation, which upon revocation must result in adjudication, the trial judge never has an opportunity to treat a third or subsequent DWLSR as a misdemeanor. Thus, concluded the court, the constitutional concern does not arise. Gloster, supra. Two other district courts have upheld the statute for different reasons, each construing the statute such that an adjudication of guilt is not necessary for conviction. Raulerson v. State, 699 So.2d 339 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), review granted, 709 So.2d 537 (Fla. March 5, 1998); State v. Keirn, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1144 (4th DCA May 6, 1998), review granted, 718 So.2d 168 (Fla. July 22, 1998).

Each of these decisions is in error. Under section 322.—34(1), unlike other recidivist enhancement statutes, the judge retains authority to impose or withhold adjudication, a decision which determines whether the offense is a misdemeanor or felony, and what punishment may be imposed therefor. Contrary to the conclusion in Gloster, the option to treat the offense as a misdemeanor does indeed arise. Moreover, the strained statutory exegesis in Raulerson and Keirn notwithstanding, this statute is not excepted from the rule followed in Florida that a plea of nolo contendere followed by withhold of adjudication of guilt is not a conviction.

In the discussion that follows, petitioner will contrast this statute with comparable recidivist enhancement schemes elevating misdemeanors into felonies, set out the pertinent caselaw concerning the meaning of the term "conviction" in Florida law and, finally, point out the flaws in <u>Gloster</u>, Raulerson and <u>Keirn</u>.

A. "CONVICTION" UNDER FLORIDA LAW

As one court has noted, the word "conviction" is susceptible of different interpretations depending on the context in which it is used. State Department of Highway Safety v.DeGrossi, 680 So.2d 1093, 1095 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996). In Smith v. State, 75 Fla. 468, 78 So. 530 (1918), the state prosecuted the defendant for sale of liquor in a dry county, "having been before convicted of the same offense." The conviction was reversed on the court's finding that "convicted" meant "adjudicated," and the information alleged only that the defendant had previously pled guilty to the offense. Citing Smith and other precedent, the Third District held that the offense of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon contained, as an essential element, a prior felony adjudication of guilt. Castillo v. State, 590 So. 2d 458 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991).

The federal courts agree that, under Florida law, when a "conviction" is an essential element of another offense, adjudication, a guilty verdict or at least a guilty plea is required. In <u>United States v. Thompson</u>, 756 F.Supp. 1492 (N.D. Fla. 1991), the court found that a *nolo contendere* plea without adjudication could not be used as a felony conviction to establish the federal offense of receiving firearms by a person previously convicted of a felony. The Eleventh Circuit recent-

ly approved Thompson when it reversed a federal conviction of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon in <u>United States v. Willis</u>, 106 F.3d 966 (11th Cir. 1997). The <u>Thompson</u> and <u>Willis</u> courts based their decisions on passages from two Florida Supreme Court opinions, <u>Garron v. State</u>, 528 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1988), and <u>State v. Gazda</u>, 257 So.2d 242 (Fla. 1971). The <u>Garron court held that a nolo contendere plea is not a confession of guilt</u>, and is therefore not tantamount to a conviction for purposes of an aggravating circumstance in capital sentencing proceedings. In <u>Gazda</u>, the court held that, for purposes of determining whether a sentence previously withheld upon conviction may subsequently be imposed,

the term "conviction" means a determination of guilt by verdict of the jury or by plea of guilty, and does not require adjudication by the court. It is important to distinguish a "judgment of conviction" which is defective unless it contains an adjudication of guilt.

257 So.2d at 243-44.

Thus, for purposes of determining the elements of an offense and the punishment authorized therefor, a "conviction" is defined in Florida as an adjudication of guilt, verdict of guilt, or plea of guilty. This definition excludes a plea of nolo contendere without adjudication of guilt.

Unlike Gloster, the trial court rejected Castro's claim that he could not be convicted of a felony because the state had failed to prove he had two valid prior convictions. Castro was convicted, i.e., adjudicated guilty, of a felony. The

actual disposition of his case, however, does not defeat the separation of powers argument made here. In Gloster, by comparison, because a different trial court ruled in his favor, the case against Gloster was dismissed without a plea. Had the issue been resolved against him, he doubtless would have pled no contest, reserving the right to appeal the denial of the motion to dismiss. Thus, short of an adjudication of guilt, he would not have a "conviction" for purposes of section 322.—34(1)(c), Florida Statutes.

This conclusion is consistent with the traffic court rules, which define a conviction under Chapter 322 as a "determination that a defendant has committed a traffic infraction... unless adjudication is withheld..." Fla. R.Traf.Ct. 6.560. Though driving with a suspended license is a criminal offense, not an infraction, it is part of Chapter 322 and should therefore be applied consistently with other provisions therein. If adjudication is withheld, the offender has not been convicted.

B. OPERATION OF COMPARABLE STATUTES

The differences between this statutory provision and the two it most closely resembles, governing felony DUI and felony petit theft, reinforce the conclusion that a conviction requires adjudication under section 322.34(1)(c). Because of similarities in the provisions, construction in pari materia is appropriate. See Smith v. Crawford, 645 So.2d 513, 523 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); V.C.F. v. State, 569 So.2d 1364 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (statutes on related subject or object are construed in

pari materia to reach compatible interpretations). Judge
Kaplan compared the felony DWLSR, felony DUI and felony petit
theft provisions in <u>Santiago</u>, <u>supra</u>, to petitioner's knowledge,
the first published opinion on this issue.

Section 316.656(1), Florida Statutes, requires adjudication in DUI cases, leaving no judicial discretion to dictate the degree of the offense via the power to withhold or impose adjudication. Consistent with the recognition in Thompson, of a "common perception" that one who has not been adjudicated guilty is not convicted, 756 F. Supp. at 1496, this provision creates an exception to the rule. Otherwise, the language of section 316.656(1) would be superfluous. Section 812.014-(3)(c), defining felony petit theft, takes another tack around the common perception by defining the repetition of the offense as a felony regardless of whether it results in conviction.

As the circuit court recognized in <u>Santiago</u>, the felony DWLSR provision is unconstitutional precisely because it is not written like either the felony DUI or felony petit theft provisions. The court there also recognized that the judiciary cannot rectify this error by rewriting the statute. Only by departing from the plain meaning of the provision, by abandoning precedent, and by violating rules of strict construction and resolution of ambiguity in favor of the accused can the disparity be overcome and the constitutional defect in the statute be dissolved.

C. CRITIQUE OF RAULERSON

In Raulerson, supra, the Fifth DCA held that section 322.—34(1)(c) does not violate the constitutionally required separation of powers because a "conviction" as specified in the statute does not require adjudication of guilt. Both the majority and concurring opinions in Raulerson suffer substantial flaws. Both opinions rely on the excerpt in Gazda, quoted above, without taking stock of the fact that, by omission, the Gazda court exempted no contest pleas without adjudication from the definition of "conviction." Raulerson pled no contest. Id. at 339.

As noted above, the felony DWLSR prosecution against Gloster was dismissed without a plea; had the trial court ruled against him on a motion to dismiss, his plea would have been no contest, reserving the right to appeal denial of the motion. Thus, Gloster faced the potential of punishment for a third-degree felony based on the trial court's determination to adjudicate him guilty following a plea of no contest. Petitioner Castro, on the other hand, faced the reality, not merely the potential, of this outcome.

The majority in <u>Raulerson</u> also quoted from Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.702(d)(2), which defines a conviction as a determination of guilt resulting from plea or trial for purposes of the sentencing guidelines. This illustrates only that "conviction" has different definitions for different purposes. As noted above, the general rule is that a conviction connotes an adjudication of guilt. Also as noted above, the traffic

rules exclude offenses for which adjudication has been withheld from the definition of conviction. Felony DWSLR, though a criminal offense, is part of chapter 322, and the rules governing other provisions under that specific chapter have greater application in interpreting the statute than do the general quidelines rules.

In his concurring opinion in <u>Raulerson</u>, Judge Harris took the position that, although the felony DUI and felony DWSLR statutes are written differently, they should be applied consistently for policy reasons. <u>Id</u>. at 341. Petitioner respectfully suggests that this is precisely the type of judicial legislation Judge Kaplan prudently declined to embrace in <u>Santiago</u>, <u>supra</u>. <u>See generally</u>, <u>Brown v. State</u>, 358 So.2d 16, 20 (Fla. 1978) (courts must not effectively rewrite enactment in an effort to uphold it). Judge Harris concluded:

This is an appropriate case, as indicated by the majority opinion, in which to apply the supreme court's distinction between a conviction and an adjudication of guilt.

Id. at D2269. This is an apparent reference to <u>Gazda</u>, <u>supra</u>. However, the <u>Raulerson</u> court evidently did not recognize that no contest pleas without adjudication are not convictions even under <u>Gazda</u>, a significant oversight in light of Raulerson's plea of no contest.

D. CRITIQUE OF KEIRN

In <u>State v. Keirn</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Fourth District closely analyzed Chapters 318 and 322, Florida Statutes, as well as several traffic court provisions to conclude that a conviction

under section 322.34 means a finding of guilt, regardless of adjudication. In petitioner's view, the <u>Keirn</u> court's invocation of the provisions of Chapter 318 to construe "conviction" contrary to the general Florida rule is unwarranted.

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