FILED of 7 SID J. WHITE

SEP 8 1998

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By

Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL KEIRN,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 93,114

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO BUREAU CHIEF /FLORIDA BAR NO. 0656879

ROCHELLE L. KIRDY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0962661
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(561) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The term "conviction," as used in section 322.34(1) constitutes a conviction regardless of adjudication, unless the adjudication was withheld pursuant to § 318.14(10). Furthermore, §322.334(1)(C) does not violate the constitutional protection of separation of powers. Since all dispositions under §322.34 are convictions regardless of adjudication, the court does not have discretion to determine whether the offense should be classified as a misdemeanor or a felony.

Appellee has failed to demonstrate that section 322.34(1)(c) did not give him fair notice of what type of conduct was forbidden by the statute, and thus, the statute is not void for vagueness.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY HELD THAT DISPOSITIONS UNDER SECTION 322.34(1)(C) FLORIDA STATUTES (1995) CONSTITUTE CONVICTIONS REGARDLESS OF ADJUDICATION, UNLESS ADJUDICATION WAS WITHHELD PURSUANT TO SECTION 318.14(10), ADDITIONALLY, SECTION 322.34(1) FLORIDA STATUTES DOES NOT VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTION OF SEPARATION OF POWERS.

Petitioner contends that the Fourth District Court of Appeal erred in holding that all dispositions under § 322.34(1)(C) Florida Statutes (1995) constitute a conviction regardless of adjudication, unless the adjudication was withheld pursuant to § 318.14(10). Furthermore, Petitioner contends that section 322.34(1)(c) is unconstitutional. Respondent disagrees.

Section 322.34 (1)(C) Florida Statutes (1995), provides in pertinent part:

- (1) Any person whose driver's license or driving privilege has been canceled, suspended, or revoked as provided by law, except persons defined in § 322.264, and who drives any motor vehicle upon the highways of this state while such license or privilege is canceled, suspended, or revoked, upon:
- (C) a third or subsequent conviction is guilty of a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in § 775.082, § 775.083, § 775.084.

"In Florida law, 'conviction' is a chameleon-like term which draws meaning from its statutory context." State v. Keirn, 23 Fla.

L. Weekly D1144 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). Where the statutory context requires it, the term 'conviction' has been construed broadly to include dispositions where there has been no adjudication of guilt.

Id. Some rules and statutes specifically include a withhold of

adjudication within the statutory definition of the term 'conviction'. Id.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>State v. Keirn</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1144 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) used the following analysis in determining what the term "conviction" means under §322.34 Florida Statutes. Respondent agrees with and adopts the following analysis set forth by the Fourth District Court of Appeal:

To properly determine the meaning of the term "conviction" in section 322.34, it is necessary to read that section in conjunction with other provisions of Chapter 322 and Chapter 318, Florida Statutes, entitled "Disposition of Traffic Infractions." Sections in each chapter cross-reference the other. The Chapters have been amended in the same session laws. Viewed together, Chapters 318 and 322 comprise the legislative scheme for regulating the privilege to drive a motor vehicle in Florida.

Section 322.263, Florida Statutes (1995), expressly declares the legislative intent underlying all of Chapter 322:

It is declared to be the legislative intent to:

- (1) Provide maximum safety for all persons who travel or otherwise use the public highways of the state.
- (2) Deny the privilege of operating motor vehicles on public highways to persons who, by their conduct and record, have demonstrated their indifference for the safety and welfare of others and their disrespect for the laws of the state and the orders of the state courts and administrative agencies.
- (3) Discourage repetition of criminal action by individuals against the peace and dignity of the state ... and impose increased and added deprivation of the privilege of operating motor vehicles upon habitual offenders who have been convicted repeatedly of violations of traffic laws.

For section 322.34 suspensions, the legislature has specified both the type of suspension entitled to leniency and the procedure for obtaining a special

disposition of a charge.

In 1985, the legislature added subsection 10(a) to section 318.14. Ch. 85-250, § 2, at 1668, Laws of Fla. Even though section 318.14 was entitled "Noncriminal traffic infractions; exception; procedures," section 318.14(10) established a procedure for handling certain criminal violations. One of these criminal charges was "operating a motor vehicle with a license which has been suspended for failure to appear, failure to pay civil penalty, or failure to attend a driver improvement course." \$318.14(10)(a)1, Fla. Stat. (1995). section 318.14(10)(a), any person cited for such a suspension may, in lieu of payment of fine or court appearance, elect to enter a plea of nolo contendere and provide proof of compliance to the clerk of the court.... In such case, adjudication shall be withheld; however, no election shall be made under this subsection if such person has made an election under this subsection in the 12 months preceding election hereunder. No person may make more than three elections under this subsection.

By enacting this section, the legislature recognized that leniency was appropriate for certain types of license suspensions. Subsection (10) allows a person to reinstate his or her driver's license with the clerk prior to the court appearance date indicated on the citation or notice to appear. Traffic Rule 6.360(b) authorizes the clerk to allow a person up to 60 additional days to reinstate the license. If a defendant still needs additional time to comply with section 318.14(10), a judge or traffic hearing officer may extend the time for compliance. Fla. R. Traf. Ct. 6.360(b); 6.040(a).

In 1990, the legislature moved away from the "adjudication" concept in defining a chapter 322 conviction, to make that definition coincide with those cases reserved for special treatment under section 318.14(10). Ch. 90-230, Laws of Fla. § 3, at 1722. Prior to the 1990 amendment, a "conviction" was defined as,

an adjudication of guilt; a determination in a court of original jurisdiction or an administrative proceeding that a person has violated, or failed to comply with, the law; a forfeiture of bail or collateral deposited to secure the person's appearance in court, unless such forfeiture is vacated; a plea of guilty or nolo contendre accepted by a court; the payment of a fine, penalty, or court costs, regardless of whether such fine, penalty, or

cost is rebated, suspended, or probated; a ruling which withholds adjudication; or a violation of a condition of release.

§ 322.01(10), Fla. Stat. (1989) (emphasis supplied). Significantly, since this section defined "a ruling which withholds adjudication" as a conviction, a withhold of adjudication in a suspension case under section 318.14(10) would still have counted as a conviction for the purpose of Chapter 322.

The legislature remedied this anomaly in 1990 by eliminating the 1989 version of section 322.01(10), redefining a conviction under that section, and adding a section addressing the relationship between a withhold of adjudication and a conviction. Ch. 90-230, Laws of Fla. These amendments were to operate § 2, 3, at 1722. "retroactively to July 1, 1989," prior to the effective date of the 1989 version of section 322.01(10). Id.; see ch. 89-282, Laws of Fla. § 3, at 1664. The 1990 amendment defined "conviction" without reference to an adjudication, reflecting a legislative intent to remove that concept from the Chapter 322 "conviction" equation. The amendment adopted the current form of the statute, which states,

"Conviction" means a conviction of an offense relating to the operation of motor vehicles on highways which is a violation of this chapter or any other such law of this state or any other state, including an admission or determination of a noncriminal traffic infraction pursuant to s. 318.14, or a judicial disposition of an offense committed under any federal law substantially conforming to the aforesaid state statutory provisions.

§ 322.01(10), Fla. Stat. (1995); ch. 90-230, § 3, at 1722, Laws of Fla.

The focus of this definition is whether an offense was committed and not on the judicial decision of whether to impose or withhold adjudication. For example, the definition includes a "judicial disposition" of federal offenses, language signifying the closing of a case without regard to the adjudication of guilt. Similarly, for a traffic infraction, the definition refers not to an adjudication, but to an "admission or determination," words that precisely echo the language of section 318.14. From issuance of the citation through conviction, section 318.14 sets out the procedure for handling a traffic infraction without any mention of an adjudication of

guilt.

In the same 1990 statute that changed section 322.01(10)'s definition of conviction, the legislature added section 318.14(11), which provides:

If adjudication is withheld for any person charged or cited under this section, such action shall not be deemed a conviction.

Ch. 90-230, § 2, at 1722, Laws of Fla. It is significant that the legislature included section  $318.14\,(11)$  in the same session law that redefined a conviction. If a withhold of adjudication on a criminal charge generally did not constitute a conviction, then subsection (11) would have been unnecessary.

The adoption of subsection (11) evidences the legislative intent that all dispositions of driving under suspension charges amount to convictions under section 322.01(10), unless adjudication has been withheld pursuant to the procedures of section 318.14(10), for the three types of license suspensions enumerated in that section. interpretation is consistent with the stated legislative intent found at section 322.263. The legislature has placed a ceiling on both the frequency and the number of times a person may avoid the full sanction of a license suspension--- one time every twelve months and three elections in a lifetime. A disposition outside of the section 318.14(10) procedure, regardless of whether adjudication is withheld or imposed, is a "conviction" within the meaning of section 322.01(10), which can be used to habitualize under section 322.264(1)(d), Florida Statutes (1995), or for aggravation under section 322.34.

The Rules of Traffic Procedure mirror section 318.14(11). Rule 6.560 states that elections under "section 318.14(9) or (10) ... when adjudication is withheld, shall not constitute convictions." Rule 6.291 governs "procedures on withheld adjudication in driving while license suspended." Rule 6.291(d) provides:

(d) Convictions. Elections under section 318.14(10), Florida Statutes, when adjudication is withheld, shall not constitute convictions as that term is used in chapter 322, Florida Statutes.

Rule 6.291(d) and the last sentence of Rule 6.560 explicitly tie the absence of a Chapter 322 conviction in suspension cases to the withholding of adjudication under section

318.14(10) procedures, and not to a withhold of adjudication in any other situation. Outside of section 318.14, a judge is authorized to withhold adjudication in criminal cases if he or she places a defendant on probation. See Waite v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 681 So.2d 901 n. 1 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); State v. Gloster, 703 So.2d 1174, 1175 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); § 948.01(2); 921.187(1)(a)3; Fla. Stat. (1997); Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.670. These types of dispositions fall outside of Chapter 322's definition of a conviction.

Given this construction of the term "conviction," the concern noted by the trial judge does not exist. Even if the judge in this case were to withhold adjudication on the driving while license suspended charge after a plea or verdict, such a disposition would still amount to a third "conviction" under section 322.34(1)(c), because it is a disposition outside of section 318.14(10).

Thus, based on the holding in State v. Keirn, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1144 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), a "conviction" under section 322.34 Florida Statutes (1995) occurs after a final disposition of a case, as a result of a trial or plea, without regard to the court's decision on adjudication of the defendant, unless the disposition is made pursuant to section 318.14(10), Florida Statutes (1995).

Petitioner's relies upon <u>Wooten v. State</u>, 332 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 1976), as part of his argument. Respondent contends that this argument is without merit. As stated by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>State v. Keirn</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1144 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), in determining the proper construction of the term "conviction", it is essential to examine the statutory context, and legislative history and development of section 322.34(1)(C) Florida Statutes. Thus, the statute addressed in <u>Wooten</u>, <u>supra</u>, is not at issue in the case at bar, and therefore the statutory context, and

legislative history and development of that statute should not be applied.

Petitioner also contends that section 322.34(1), Fla. Stat. (1995) is unconstitutional because it violates the constitutional protection of separation of powers set forth in Art. II, § 3 of the Florida Constitution. Petitioner argues that § 322.34(1) is unconstitutional because it unlawfully delegates a legislative function to the judicial branch by affording the circuit court the discretion to determine whether a third or subsequent offense of driving while license is canceled, suspended or revoked after the prior adjudications were withheld, is a felony or misdemeanor. Respondent disagrees.

In assessing a statute's constitutionality, this Court is bound "to resolve all doubts as to the validity of [the] statute in favor of its constitutionality, provided the statute may be given a fair construction that is consistent with the federal and state constitutions as well as with the legislative intent." State v. Stalder, 630 So. 2d 1072, 1076 (Fla. 1994) (quoting State v. Elder, 382 So. 2d 687, 690 (Fla. 1980)). Further, "[w]henever possible, a statute should be construed so as not to conflict with the constitution. Just as federal courts are authorized to place

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Article II, § 3 provides:

The powers of the state government shall be divided into legislative, executive and judicial branches. No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the branches unless expressly provided herein.

narrowing constructions on acts of Congress, this Court may, under the proper circumstances, do the same with a state statute when to do so does not effectively rewrite the enactment." Id. (quoting Firestone v. News-Press Publishing Co., 538 So. 2d 457, 459-60 (Fla. 1989) (citations omitted)). The crucial test in determining whether a statute amounts to an unlawful delegation of legislative power is whether the statute contains sufficient standards or guidelines to enable the agency and the courts to determine whether the agency is carrying out the legislative intent. Tory v. State, 686 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), Citing, Department of Ins. v. Southeast Volusia Hosp. Dist., 438 So.2d 815, 819 (Fla.1983), appeal dismissed, 466 U.S. 901, 104 S.Ct. 1673, 80 L.Ed.2d 149 (1984).

In Raulerson v. State, 699 So. 2d 339, 340 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), the court was called upon to determine the constitutionality of section 32.34(1)(C) Florida Statutes based on alleged lack of separation of powers. The court in Raulerson held, as did the Fourth District Court of Appeals (by a different path) in State v. Keirn, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1144 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), that determination of whether \$322.34(1)(C) was constitutional hinged on whether the Defendant's violation of \$322.34(1)(C) constituted a "conviction" when the sentencing court decides to withhold adjudication of guilt instead of entering a judgment against the defendant. The Fifth District Court of Appeal stated that if a withhold of ajudication is a "conviction" for purposes of \$322.34(1)(C) then Petitioner's argument fails because all prior

violations of the statute would count in determining whether the violation is a felony. Thus, there would be no encroachment by the trial court, and no separation of powers violation. Raulerson v. State, 699 So. 2d 339, 340 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997).

## In Raulerson the court opined:

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